# Effects of civic engagement on mental health in age comparison

Dissertation zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades Doctor philosophiae (Dr. phil.) an der Universität Vechta

Erstgutachterin: Prof. Dr. Maria Pavlova

Zweitgutachter: Prof. Dr. Philipp Jugert

Vorgelegt von Matthias Lühr, 2023

### Inhaltsverzeichnis

Summary	2
Introduction	3
Definitions	5
Civic Engagement	5
Mental Health	6
Theoretical Background on Mental Health Benefits of Civic Engagement	7
The Benefits of Helping	7
The Benefits of Social Roles and Networks	8
Losses and Needs in Old Age	9
Previous Empirical Findings	10
Recent Longitudinal Evidence	10
Differences among Mental Health Indicators	11
Age Differences and Explanations for Them	12
Differences among Types of Engagement	12
Aims and Research Questions	13
Methods	15
Datasets and Samples	15
Measures	16
General Statistical Approach	17
Specific Hypotheses, Detailed Statistical Approach, and Results	19
Study I	19
Study II	22
Study III	23
Discussion	25
Focus on Within-Person Processes	26
Differences among Mental Health Indicators	28
Differences between Nonpolitical and Political Engagement	30
Age Differences and the Relevance of Retirement	32
Strengths, Limitations, and Future Directions	34
Conclusions	37
References	38
Wissenschaftlicher Werdegang	57
Literaturverzeichnis	59

#### **Summary**

Aim. It appears to be common knowledge that civic engagement yields mental health benefits for the engaged individual, particularly if older adults are civically engaged.

However, although such claims are consistent with theoretical considerations, empirical support for them is rather scarce and was often based on cross-sectional data. The aim of this thesis was to investigate the mental health benefits of civic engagement and potential differentiations in the effects of civic engagement (i.e., age differences, differences among nonpolitical and political engagement) using longitudinal data and a more robust methodological approach that focuses on within-person associations.

**Methods**. The first two studies that are part of this thesis used data from the German Socioeconomic Panel (SOEP; Study I; N = 17,720) and the British Household Panel Survey (BHPS; Study II; N = 18,550) to investigate whether there are age differences in the effects of nonpolitical and political engagement on different mental health indicators. To separate within-person from between-person association, multilevel modeling was used. Study III used a sample of retired individuals from the SOEP (N = 9,043) to investigate associations between trajectories of nonpolitical engagement and life satisfaction across the retirement transition. To do so, multivariate latent growth curve modeling was employed.

Results. In Study I and Study II, there were hardly any significantly positive associations between civic engagement and mental health indicators. If positive associations could be observed, they emerged mainly for associations between nonpolitical engagement and life satisfaction among older adults. In Study III, positive associations between trajectories of nonpolitical engagement and life satisfaction were more likely observed in retirement and among retirees with a lower level of life satisfaction.

**Conclusions**. The results suggest that civic engagement generally does not yield considerable mental health benefits. However, individuals may indeed benefit from civic engagement after retirement as it may compensate for role losses following retirement.

#### Introduction

According to the German Survey on Volunteering (Simonson et al., 2021), 39.7% of the German population aged 16+ was involved in some form of voluntary engagement in 2019. Moreover, a clear trend in the numbers of voluntary engagement has appeared across the last two decades: average rates of voluntary engagement increased by about 10 percentage points from 1999 to 2019. This trend was particularly obvious among individuals aged 65+, whose average rate increased from 18.0% in 1999 to 31.3% in 2019. Increased rates of voluntary participation point to the increased sociopolitical relevance of such engagement.

Apart from its importance for social cohesion and the functioning of society in general (Verba et al., 1995), the benefits of civic engagement for the engaged individual have been spotlighted in recent years. Voluntary organizations or other associations/individuals trying to promote voluntary engagement have underlined the mental health benefits of civic engagement, particularly for older engaged individuals: advocates maintain that these contributions provide meaning in life, increase self-esteem, help participants make new friends, and increase happiness (Flexhero, n.d.; Health Education England, 2017; Techniker Krankenkasse, 2023).

The overall goals of this thesis were to investigate these supposed mental health benefits of civic engagement in more detail and to test differences in benefits among individuals (who benefits?) and particularly differences in the effects by age (are benefits stronger in old age?). The first two studies that constitute this thesis originated in my work in the project "Psychosocial Benefits of Civic and Political Participation across the Life Span and in a European Comparison: Who Gains What from Which Activities, and Why?" (PI: Prof. Dr. Maria Pavlova), which was funded by the German Research Foundation (DFG). I contributed to both studies as the first author. In Study I (Lühr et al., 2022b), we looked into age group differences (younger adults vs. middle-aged adults vs. older adults) in the effects of nonpolitical and political engagement on various mental health outcomes using large-scale

panel data from Germany (German Socio-Economic Panel, SOEP). In Study II (Lühr et al., 2022a), we elaborated on age differences in the effects of nonpolitical and political engagement using large-scale panel data from the UK (British Household Panel Survey, BHPS; Understanding Society, UndSoc). Following the results of the first two studies, I conducted a further study with SOEP data, which was not part of the original research project: in Study III (Lühr, 2024), I asked which older adults benefit from civic engagement in particular by analyzing differences in the effects of civic engagement before and after retirement and by considering the level of mental health prior to and at retirement as a moderator of associations between civic engagement and mental health in retirement.

The three studies contributed substantially to research on aging because we investigated whether theoretical perspectives on motivational and role changes with increasing age (Baltes, 1997; Carstensen et al., 1999; Erikson, 1950) are applicable to research on civic engagement and mental health. To do so, we tested differences in the effects of civic engagement on mental health among distinct age groups and between different life phases (i.e., prior to retirement vs. after retirement). Moreover, we combined the theoretical perspectives on aging with differentiations among types of engagement in the field of political science (Theiss-Morse & Hibbing, 2005; Verba et al., 1995) to analyze age differences in the effects of nonpolitical and political engagement. The three studies also contributed methodically to research on civic engagement and mental health because we focused on within-person associations between civic engagement and mental health. This methodological approach has been seldom used in research, but is adapted to what lies at the heart of most questions in psychological research, the research questions of this thesis included: an interest in within-person change.

#### **Definitions**

#### **Civic Engagement**

The term *civic engagement* has no clear definition in the scientific literature and is often used interchangeably with other concepts (Adler & Goggin, 2005). Most research on civic engagement and mental health stems from North America, where the term "volunteering" is prominent (Wilson, 2000, 2012). Although definitions of volunteering differ too, Morrow-Howell (2010) may have provided the most distinctive definition of formal volunteering by naming three of its criteria: an unpaid activity, conducted within a formal organization, and directed toward a common cause. Civic engagement is typically a broader construct than formal volunteering and includes different forms of participation (e.g., church attendance, voting, making donations; Adler & Goggin, 2005; Putnam, 1995). For the purpose of this thesis, I applied a narrower definition of civic engagement, one that includes formal volunteering according to Morrow-Howell (2010) and active participation in voluntary organizations (Wilson, 2000). In sum, I focused on voluntary engagement in groups that might also organize themselves more privately (e.g., citizens' initiatives). However, this definition does not subsume informal, unstructured, or solitary activities (e.g., helping neighbors with their relocation). This definition of civic engagement resembles the understanding of voluntary engagement as applied in the German Survey on Volunteering (Simonson et al., 2021).

People can engage in a variety of organizations, for a variety of different purposes.

One potential differentiation we made in the DFG-funded project among types of engagement refers to the distinction between nonpolitical and political engagement (Theiss-Morse & Hibbing, 2005; Verba et al., 1995). Nonpolitical engagement is regarded as an activity directly related to the common cause, mostly by helping others. Such immediate helping activities might aim to support people or animals. Typical examples include engagement in an animal shelter, for homeless people, or at a fire department. Political engagement is generally

directed at policy change and therefore contributes less directly to the common cause, by aiming to change the societal or political conditions in which people live. Typical examples include engagement in a political party or in the context of protest movements (Pavlova et al., 2022; Pavlova & Silbereisen, 2015; Theiss-Morse & Hibbing, 2005; Verba et al., 1995).

#### **Mental Health**

According to the World Health Organization (WHO; 2004), mental health describes not only an absence of mental illnesses, but also an interplay of physical, psychological, and social well-being that allows the individual to realize their ability, cope with stressors, and make a contribution to the community. This is a very broad definition of mental health that even refers to physical conditions. For this thesis, I broadly applied this definition, but did not include physical well-being. In accordance with the WHO definition, I considered subjective, psychological, and social well-being as elements of mental health (Keyes, 2005, 2006).

Subjective well-being (SWB) consists of two components: an emotional component (affective well-being) and a cognitive component (cognitive well-being; Diener et al., 1999; Luhmann, Hofmann, et al., 2012). Affective well-being delineates positive emotions (e.g., feelings of joy, happiness, pride) and the absence of unpleasant emotions (e.g., feelings of sadness, anger, worry). Cognitive well-being refers to evaluations of one's life that either pertain to life as a whole (i.e., general life satisfaction) or to specific life domains (i.e., domain satisfaction, such as satisfaction with leisure or work). Due to its focus on pleasure and enjoyment, SWB is sometimes characterized as hedonic well-being (Keyes, 2006; Ryan & Deci, 2001).

The concept of psychological well-being (PWB) roots in the work of Ryff (1989, 2014), who introduced PWB as a counterpart to SWB. Drawing on thoughts from Aristotle, Ryff related the Greek term *eudaimonia* not to happiness, but to feelings of meaning, direction, and self-realization; the terms *eduaimonic well-being* (a term prominent in self-determination theory; Ryan & Deci, 2000) and PWB are therefore often used synonymously.

Ryff (2014) formulated six dimensions of PWB: autonomy (i.e., self-determination and independence), environmental mastery (i.e., a sense of competence in managing one's life), personal growth (i.e., a sense of development in self and behavior), positive relations with others (i.e., signs of empathy and affection in relations with others), purpose in life (i.e., past and present life is perceived to be meaningful), and self-acceptance (i.e., positivity, acceptance of duality in life).

Finally, underlining the social context of one's life, Keyes (1998, 2006) distinguished social well-being (SoWB) from other dimensions of well-being. SoWB can be defined as one's functioning in society and the perceived quality of relationships. Keyes (1998, 2006) cited social coherence (i.e., making sense of the social world one lives in), social actualization (i.e., optimism regarding the future of society), social integration (i.e., feeling part of communities and society), social acceptance (i.e., trust in others), and social contribution (i.e., perception of being able to contribute to society) as indicators of SoWB. Social indicators that may be more concrete and are often assessed in research, such as receiving social support or having close relationships, can be equally summarized under SoWB (Manwell et al., 2015).

## Theoretical Background on Mental Health Benefits of Civic Engagement The Benefits of Helping

Why is civic engagement thought to contribute to better mental health? One line of theoretical considerations relates the mental health benefits of civic engagement to the act of giving, helping, or prosocial behavior in general. Researchers stated that helping others makes the helper feel a "warm glow" (Andreoni, 1990; Handy & Mook, 2011; Musick & Wilson, 2003). Thoughts like this were expressed most explicitly in the (economic) theory of warmglow giving (Andreoni, 1990). The warm glow refers to a feeling of joy, satisfaction, and happiness rooted in the perception of having done something good and acted selflessly based on one's altruistic values (Andreoni, 1990; Midlarsky & Kahana, 2007). Several

complementing explanations explore how helping contributes to the feeling of a warm glow or to better mental health in general.

First, acting to the benefit of others offers an opportunity to set oneself apart from others and to signal social status, the more so as society generally values such commitments (Handy & Mook, 2011; Piliavin & Siegl, 2015). Second, helping others often means meeting disadvantaged others, which may distract helpers from their own troubles and compel them to compare themselves with worse-off individuals (Heckhausen et al., 2010; Midlarsky, 1991). Third, actively engaging in a behavior that produces outcomes that are important to others may improve PWB (e.g., sense of competence, mastery, meaning in life, or self-worth) in particular (Midlarsky, 1991).

#### The Benefits of Social Roles and Networks

Another line of theoretical considerations has emphasized the importance of involvement in social roles and networks for mental health. As such, involvement in voluntary organizations means assuming a social role and being part of a social network (Piliavin & Siegl, 2015; Son & Wilson, 2012). As Sieber (1974) pointed out in role accumulation theory, accumulating social roles yields benefits for the individual because they provide status security and enhancement (e.g., organizational positions symbolize relevance), personal growth (e.g., by negotiating conflicting demands and information), and ego gratification (e.g., role demands contribute to a sense of being needed). Likewise, ideas based on identity theories underline that social roles are accompanied by a set of identities and self-categorizations that are filled with meaning and foster feelings of self-esteem and mattering (Thoits, 1983).

Moreover, civic engagement may be seen as a source of social integration. Drawing on Durkheim's (1897) work on social integration, Berkman and colleagues (2000) proposed a model that links social networks to health. According to this model, participation in social networks fosters social interactions, social support, attachments to organizations, bonds

among members, and opportunities for meaningful activities. These primarily social benefits can be expected to apply to civic engagement too because it is conducted within a structure of a social network and requires coordination and mutual commitment with like-minded others to benefit a common cause (Musick & Wilson, 2003; Piliavin & Siegl, 2015; Rook & Sorkin, 2003; Van Ingen & Kalmijn, 2010).

#### Losses and Needs in Old Age

Scholars have used life-span theories to explain why older adults in particular may benefit from civic engagement. From a perspective focusing on social roles, ageing may be accompanied by decreasing engagement in social roles, such as family roles (e.g., role as a parent) or working roles, which can impair mental health (Morrow-Howell, 2010; Thoits, 2010, 2011). Researchers have described compensating for these losses as key to successful ageing, in other words, by remaining active and socially involved (activity theory; Havighurst, 1961), continuing established lifestyles and activities (continuity theory; Atchley, 1989), or substituting no longer available means and resources with new ones that are easier to realize (selection-optimization-compensation model; Baltes, 1997). Civic engagement may be well suited for role compensation because it entails assuming a formal social role much like the working role as it includes social involvement and engagement in productive activities (Anderson et al., 2014; Musick & Wilson, 2003; Piliavin & Siegl, 2015).

Another group of life-span theories refers to older adults' needs and motivations.

Drawing on these theories, one may reason that civic engagement allows older adults to fulfil age-related needs and motivations. Socioemotional selectivity theory posits that when future time is perceived as limited (e.g., in old age), individuals are present-oriented and strive for emotional meaningful experiences, which encompass spending time with close others (Carstensen et al., 1999). In his stage model of psychosocial development, Erikson (1950) used the concept of generativity to describe an increasing desire in middle age to focus on the welfare of others in general and the next generations in particular. Later concepts of

generativity assumed such a desire to be present in older age as well (McAdams & de St. Aubin, 1992). Taken together, these ideas suggest that activities in old age are driven by motivations to socialize with close others, to experience positive emotions, and to help others (Okun & Schultz, 2003; Omoto et al., 2000). As a prosocial activity that is often undertaken together with friends and family members (Van Ingen & Kalmijn, 2010), civic engagement may satisfy these motives.

#### **Previous Empirical Findings**

Research on civic engagement and mental health has been driven by volunteering research in North America (Anderson et al., 2014; Wilson, 2000, 2012). Researchers began investigating mental health correlates of civic engagement in the 1970s (Wheeler et al., 1998; Wilson, 2000). Due to the arguments discussed above, they have often examined associations in older adults (Wheeler et al., 1998), only occasionally in younger age groups too (Piliavin & Siegl, 2015). In these early studies, researchers focused almost exclusively on SWB outcomes (e.g., life satisfaction, happiness) and found positive associations with civic engagement (Piliavin & Siegl, 2015; Wheeler et al., 1998). However, evidence for the mental health benefits of civic engagement remained limited because almost all studies were cross-sectional/correlational (for reviews, see Anderson et al., 2014; Piliavin & Siegl, 2015; Wheeler et al., 1998). Since the early 2000s, there is an increase in longitudinal studies and an interest in potential differentiations in the effects of civic engagement.

#### **Recent Longitudinal Evidence**

Results of early longitudinal studies, which often drew on data from the Americans' Changing Lives Study (ACL; e.g., Musick & Wilson, 2003; Thoits & Hewitt, 2001; Van Willigen, 2000), appeared to underscore the positive effects of civic engagement on mental health, particularly among older adults (for reviews, see Anderson et al., 2014; Piliavin & Siegl, 2015). Findings of more recent studies, published shortly before the work on our project began, supported significantly positive effects as well—though they were surprisingly

small (Barbieri, 2017; Binder, 2015; Croezen et al., 2015; De Wit et al., 2015; Meier & Stutzer, 2008). A difference between the early longitudinal studies and many of the more recent studies concerns the method of longitudinal data analysis. The former studies usually applied cross-lagged panel modeling, the latter fixed-effects modeling. I will discuss differences between these methods in one of the chapters that follows (General Statistical Approach).

#### **Differences among Mental Health Indicators**

Over the past years, research has increasingly looked into the associations of civic engagement with mental health indicators other than SWB. For instance, researchers investigated associations with aggregated measures of PWB and SoWB (Piliavin & Siegl, 2007; Son & Wilson, 2012), self-esteem (Thoits & Hewitt, 2001), mastery/self-efficacy (Thoits & Hewitt, 2001), a sense of purpose in life (Greenfield & Marks, 2004), a sense of mattering (Piliavin & Siegl, 2007), social support (Van Ingen & Kalmijn, 2010), and the number of social interactions or social network size (Fried et al., 2004; Wollebaek & Selle, 2002). In sum, with some exceptions, the results of these studies suggested positive associations of civic engagement with the measured mental health indicators. Going a step further, some researchers tried to relate different mental health indicators to each other; that is, they compared effects among them or modeled relations among them. Son and Wilson (2012) found that volunteering was related to higher PWB and SoWB, but not to higher SWB. Other studies treated PWB (e.g., self-esteem, mastery) and SoWB (e.g., social support, social interactions) indicators as mediators of the link between civic engagement and SWB (Brown et al., 2012; Mellor et al., 2008; Müller et al., 2014; Musick & Wilson, 2003; Pilkington et al., 2012). Mediation via SoWB was generally supported, mediation via PWB appeared weaker because the effects of volunteering on PWB were small or not significant, particularly for self-esteem.

#### Age Differences and Explanations for Them

Empirical studies have generally supported stronger associations of civic engagement with mental health indicators among older adults compared to younger age groups (though most studies explored only SWB; Li & Ferraro, 2006; Mueller, 2018; Musick & Wilson, 2003; Van Willigen, 2000). Consequently, researchers tried to explain why particularly older adults may benefit from civic engagement. Often drawing on a role compensation perspective, they investigated whether individuals with more role losses benefitted more from civic engagement (Greenfield & Marks, 2004; Hao, 2008; Pavlova & Silbereisen, 2012) or whether the effects of civic engagement can be found in retirement (Hansen et al., 2018; Kahana et al., 2013; Sugihara et al., 2008; Wu et al., 2005). Although the findings generally yielded support for more positive effects when individuals experienced more role losses, studies were mostly based on comparisons between individuals with more and individuals with fewer social roles (e.g., retired individuals vs. individuals who still work). Empirical evidence on how mental health changes when an individual loses a social role is rare (for an exception, see Sugihara et al., 2008).

#### **Differences among Types of Engagement**

Researchers also investigated whether the effects of civic engagement differ among the organizations in which individuals are engaged. Van Willigen (2000) as well as Musick and Wilson (2003) found associations between volunteering and SWB among older adults to be strongest for church-related volunteering. Likewise, in samples of adults in general or of specific age groups (e.g., adolescents, older adults), associations of civic engagement with SWB and SoWB indicators differed by type of organization: again, engagement in religious or human service organizations yielded positive associations with mental health outcomes, usually appearing to be stronger than those of engagement in environmental organizations, political parties, political movement groups, or work-related organizations (Albanesi et al., 2007; Croezen et al., 2015; Vinson & Ericson, 2014; Yeung et al., 2018).

#### **Aims and Research Questions**

The comprehensive aim of this thesis was to elaborate on potential differentiations in the effects of civic engagement on mental health, with a focus on differences in the effects by age. The first two studies that constitute this thesis drew on a conceptual model explicated in the project proposal of the DFG-funded project (Pavlova, 2015). According to the conceptual model, a sense of meaning in life, a sense of mastery and control, and positive social interactions may mediate the link between civic engagement and higher SWB. The idea behind this mediation model was driven by the notion that one cannot expect civic engagement to be enjoyable in the conventional sense (as it sometimes means being confronted by loss and suffering), but it may promote SWB nonetheless because it enhances aspects of PWB and SoWB (i.e., perceptions of meaning and control are dimensions of PWB, positive social relationships refer to high SoWB). Furthermore, age was expected to moderate the associations between civic engagement and mental health outcomes (i.e., SWB and potential mediating constructs); this idea is rooted in the life-span theories and perspectives on role compensation and motivational changes in old age highlighted above (Baltes, 1997; Carstensen et al., 1999; Okun & Schultz, 2003).

Specifically, the conceptual model suggested differences in effects between nonpolitical and political engagement. That is, effects on SWB and mediating constructs as well as age differences in the effects may differ for nonpolitical and political engagement. As political engagement often includes interpersonal conflicts and delayed or unachieved results (i.e., goals of political influence are seldom reached; Pavlova et al., 2022; Pavlova & Silbereisen, 2015; Theiss-Morse & Hibbing, 2005; Verba et al., 1995), political engagement may be less beneficial for mental health than nonpolitical engagement, particularly with regard to perceptions of mastery and the experience of positive social relationships.

Moreover, further ideas formulated in the conceptual model were based on socioemotional selectivity theory (Carstensen et al., 1999): The character of political engagement may bother

older adults in particular because such commitments generally do not satisfy their needs for harmonious social relations and immediate emotional gratifications. Therefore, political engagement may yield fewer benefits for sense of control and positive relationships—and via these paths for SWB as well—among older than among younger adults. However, older adults' needs may be satisfied during the (direct helping) activities of nonpolitical engagement, which should result in more beneficial effects of nonpolitical engagement among older than among younger adults.

We tested these conceptual ideas in two empirical studies. In Study I (Lühr et al., 2022b; data from Germany) and Study II (Lühr et al., 2022a; data from the UK), we analyzed whether there are age differences in the effects of nonpolitical and political engagement on various SWB, PWB, and SoWB indicators (for detailed research questions and hypotheses, see chapter Specific Hypotheses, Detailed Statistical Approach, and Results). We tested age differences across a broad age range (i.e., among younger, middle-aged, and older adults).

The third study that is part of this thesis (Lühr, 2024) went beyond the scope of the original project. In line with the overall aim of this thesis (to elaborate on potential differentiations in the effects of civic engagement), I aimed to further differentiate among older adults who benefit more or less from civic engagement. Ultimately, I drew on research on retirement adjustment and on role compensation perspective (Baltes, 1997; Henning et al., 2022; Shultz & Wang, 2011; Thoits, 2012; M. Wang et al., 2011) to analyze whether effects of civic engagement on mental health are stronger in retirement than before retirement. Consequently, I tested age differences implicitly in this study by comparing effects before transitioning into retirement to effects after transitioning into retirement. Due to its similarity to the working role, civic engagement in retirement can be expected to compensate for the loss of the working role and for potential decreases in mental health in the retirement transition (Bjälkebring et al., 2021; Musick & Wilson, 2003). Moreover, I analyzed whether the effects of civic engagement in retirement are stronger among retirees with lower levels of

mental health than among retirees with higher levels of mental health. Civic engagement in retirement may provide in particular individuals who struggled with the retirement-related "loss" of their working role or who experienced job-related problems in the last years of their working life a new, self-selected and thereby salient social role that may help to recover from such concerns (Binder, 2015; Cook, 2015; Henning et al., 2016). In studies that did not focus on retirement or old age, researchers indeed found associations between civic engagement and mental health to be strongest among individuals with low levels of mental health (Binder, 2015; Binder & Freytag, 2013; Neira et al., 2019).

#### Methods

#### **Datasets and Samples**

To answer these research questions, longitudinal data from Germany (SOEP; Study I and Study III) and the UK (BHPS/UndSoc; Study II) were analyzed. Both, the SOEP and the BHPS/UndSoc are representative annual panel surveys of adults (16+) residing in private households in the respective countries. The analysis of large-scale longitudinal datasets has become more and more common in research on civic engagement and mental health. For instance, researchers used data from the ACL (e.g., Van Willigen, 2000), the Survey of Health, Retirement, and Ageing in Europe (SHARE; e.g., Croezen et al., 2015), and many other available longitudinal datasets, including the SOEP (e.g., Meier & Stutzer, 2008) and the BHPS (e.g., Tabassum et al., 2016). The use of these datasets is convenient because they include many variables of interest and data from large, often representative samples.

Study I used SOEP data from 1985 to 2016 (data from 1984 were not included because some relevant measures were assessed with different items or rating scales compared to subsequent waves), Study II BHPS and UndSoc data from 1991 to 2016 (the UndSoc is a continuation of the BHPS), and Study III SOEP data from 1984 to 2019 (retirement-related information was used from 1984 onward; information on many relevant measures was used from 1985 onward, similar to Study I). In Study I and Study II, we split the samples into three

distinctive age groups: younger adults (14–29 in Study I; 16–29 in Study II), middle-aged adults (40–50), and older adults (65–75). These age groups included 7,547 (Study I)/10,536 (Study II) younger adults, 6,437 (Study I)/4,955 (Study II) middle-aged adults, and 3,736 (Study I)/3,059 (Study II) older adults. For Study III, I restricted the sample to individuals who reported retirement between the age of 57 and the age of 75 and who were observed at least once during the time period of 6 years before to 6 years after the year of self-reported retirement (N = 9,043).

When large-scale representative data are used, sociodemographic characteristics of the sample largely correspond to the sociodemographics of the general population. For instance, the percentage of women was slightly above 50% across age groups in Study I and Study II and among individuals in retirement transition in Study III. The average age at retirement of the sample for Study III was 63.4, and 52.1% of the sample transitioned from employment into retirement (rather than from homemaking or joblessness).

#### Measures

Civic engagement was operationalized differently in Study I/Study III (SOEP) and Study II (BHPS/UndSoc). The SOEP items assessed frequency of nonpolitical ("Volunteer work in clubs, associations or social services") and political ("Involvement in a citizens' initiative, political party, local government") volunteering on a frequency scale, such as a scale from 1 (*never*) to 4 (*at least once a week*). The BHPS/UndSoc items assessed whether individuals participated actively in different types of organizations ("Whether you are a member or not, do you join in the activities of any of these organisations on a regular basis?"). We classified the given organizations into nonpolitical and (semi-)political organizations and differed between participation in any nonpolitical organization (0 = no, 1 = yes) and in any (semi-)political organization (0 = no, 1 = yes). Average frequencies of nonpolitical and political volunteering were rather low in the SOEP samples, ranging from 1.4 to 1.6 (nonpolitical volunteering) and 1.1 to 1.3 (political volunteering) on the scale from 1 to 4

across age groups in Study I. Average rates of civic engagement differed across age groups in the BHPS/UndSoc sample (Study II). They were rather high among older adults (22.1% for nonpolitical engagement, 21.2% for political engagement), lower among younger adults (7.7%, 8.6%), and more imbalanced among middle-aged adults (13.0%, 22.4%).

Measures of mental health in Study I included general life satisfaction (assessed with a classical single item; scale 0–10) and emotional well-being (4 items on anger, worry, happiness, and sadness; 1–5) as indicators of SWB. General perceived control (7 items on perceptions of external and internal control; converted into a scale from 0–100) and political efficacy (a single item on one's potential influence on social and political conditions; converted into a scale from 0–100) were treated as indicators of internal control beliefs.

Loneliness ("I often feel lonely"; 1–4) and perceived social support in dire situations (jn case of needing long-term care; 0/1) were added as indicators of SoWB. In Study II, mental health was assessed with general life satisfaction (single item; 1–7) and GHQ-12 scores (12 items on aspects that include both affective well-being and PWB; 1–4). Other mental health indicators that rather referred to SoWB included perceived social support (5 items on the number of persons available for support; 1–3) and neighborhood belonging (8 items on feelings of connectedness to the neighborhood on which one lives; 1–5).

In Study III, I used frequency of nonpolitical volunteering as a predictor variable and general life satisfaction as an outcome variable (both constructs assessed with the same items that we used in Study I). As another indicator of life satisfaction, I added satisfaction with leisure time (single item; 0–10). For a more detailed presentation of measures, included control variables, and descriptive statistics, see the single papers.

#### **General Statistical Approach**

Compared to cross-sectional data, longitudinal data have several advantages: they enable to disentangle within-person processes (e.g., Does mental health change when an individual starts volunteering?) from between-person differences (e.g., Does metal health

differ among individuals who volunteer more frequently and individuals who volunteer less frequently?) and to address the direction of effects (Voelkle et al., 2018). This thesis's research questions refer to within-person processes and the analyses of within-person associations can account for the problem of unobserved heterogeneity among individuals by comparing individuals to themselves at different points in time (Brüderl, 2011; Hamaker & Muthén, 2020). Consequently, confounding of the relationship between civic engagement and mental health by time-invariant factors (e.g., personality) can be excluded if only within-person processes are investigated (Rohrer & Murayama, 2023).

Cross-lagged panel modeling (CLPM) is the most commonly used method to analyze longitudinal data in research on civic engagement and mental health, and many of the empirical findings described above are based on CLPM (e.g., Son & Wilson, 2012; Thoits & Hewitt, 2001; Van Willigen, 2000). In CLPM, an outcome variable is regressed on a lagged predictor variable, controlling for the lagged outcome variable. Such an approach does not separate within-person processes from between-person differences; estimated associations represent a mix of within-person and between-person effects (Berry & Willoughby, 2017; Hamaker et al., 2015; Mund & Nestler, 2019). In contrast to CPLM, variables included in fixed-effects (FE) regressions are centered on the individual's mean on the same variable across observations and their values therefore represent intraindividual comparisons. Hence, FE regressions assess only within-person associations (Allison, 2009; Brüderl, 2011; Giesselmann & Windzio, 2014; Mund & Nestler, 2019). Moreover, the estimation of FE requires at least three waves of data (compared to two in CLPM), which makes it a more reliable approach. Just as FE regressions, multilevel models with observations nested within participants can disentangle within-person from between-person effects. They allow one to analyze within-person associations separately from between-person associations, an approach typically used in psychology (Enders & Tofighi, 2007; Hamaker & Muthén, 2020; L. P. Wang & Maxwell, 2015).

Even if within-person processes are analyzed separately from between-person differences, it will not be possible to determine whether they represent causation effects (i.e., Increasing civic engagement leads to improvements in mental health) or selection effects (i.e., Improvements in mental health lead to increasing civic engagement), which are difficult to separate with observational data anyway (Rohrer & Murayama, 2023). The problem of selection effects may be partly addressed by modeling a time interval between predictor and outcome variables, as it is performed in CLPM (cf. Thoits & Hewitt, 2001). Although time lags between variables cannot address causality either (Kuiper & Ryan, 2018), they can point to a direction of effects or the temporal precedence among variables (e.g., Does an increase in civic engagement precede improvements in mental health?). However, the time between waves in classic longitudinal studies usually constitutes 1 year or even longer and one can expects the effects on most mental health outcomes to have vanished after 1 year (Mroczek et al., 2003; Dormann & Griffin, 2015).

In all three studies that are part of this thesis, I focused on within-person associations between civic engagement and mental health. Moreover, I modeled concurrent associations between civic engagement and mental health (i.e., associations without any time lag) across studies to capture potential short-term effects of changes in civic engagement, with the caveat that it was not possible to establish a direction of effects.

### Specific Hypotheses, Detailed Statistical Approach, and Results Study I

In Study I (for preregistration of methods and hypotheses at The Open Science Framework, see https://osf.io/qk6mu), we modeled internal control beliefs (i.e., general perceived control, political efficacy) and the SoWB indicators (i.e. low loneliness, perceived social support in dire situations), which point to positive social relations, as mediators of the association between civic engagement and higher SWB (i.e., general life satisfaction, emotional well-being). This approach was in line with the conceptual model of the project.

We hypothesized that internal control beliefs and positive social relationships mediate the association between volunteering and SWB. Furthermore, we analyzed age differences in the effects of nonpolitical and political engagement on SWB and the mediating constructs. We expected associations of nonpolitical volunteering with internal control beliefs, positive social relationships, and SWB to be more positive in older adults compared to younger age groups; and the associations of political volunteering with internal control beliefs, positive social relationships, and SWB to be more negative the older the participants are.

As specified in the project proposal, we employed multilevel regression models with observations nested within participants. We estimated between-person associations too because they might at least point to selection effects. Researchers have shown that an individual's level of mental health and socioeconomic resources can increase the likelihood of volunteering (De Wit et al., 2015; Lawton et al., 2021; Son & Wilson, 2012; Thoits & Hewitt, 2001; Verba et al., 1995; Wilson, 2000, 2012). Arguments in favor of such self-selections into civic engagement often refer to better health and more resources in comparison to other individuals (De Wit et al., 2015; Lawton et al., 2021), which points to associations at the between-person level. All models were estimated separately for each age group and continuous within-level variables were centered at the group mean (i.e., centered at the individual mean across observations). We used the Bayes estimator with its 95% credibility intervals that point to significance of regression coefficients if they do not cover zero (at p < 0.05) and tested for age differences (also at p < 0.05) in the effects using overlapping Bayesian confidence intervals with a correction (Knol et al., 2011).

At the within-person level, we found positive total effects of nonpolitical volunteering on SWB indicators only among older adults: more frequent than usual nonpolitical volunteering (i.e., compared to the individual mean of nonpolitical volunteering across observations) was associated with higher life satisfaction. This association was mediated by lower loneliness on occasions with more frequent than usual nonpolitical volunteering, but

only when excluding control variables. By contrast, more frequent than usual political volunteering was associated with lower life satisfaction among older adults. This association was mediated by higher loneliness reported on occasions with higher than usual political volunteering. Within-person associations among younger and middle-aged adults were significantly positive only for political efficacy and even significantly negative for perceived control. As the sizes of significant effects were generally small, we found no significant age differences in the associations of nonpolitical and political volunteering with any mediator or outcome variable. Surprisingly, more frequent informal helping (among older adults) and more frequent informal socializing (across age groups) than usual—two leisure activities we included as control variables—were significantly associated with lower loneliness and higher life satisfaction.

At the between-person level, higher average nonpolitical volunteering was associated with higher average life satisfaction across age groups. Apart from its association with higher average political efficacy, associations of higher average political volunteering often went in an unfavorable direction (e.g., significant associations with lower average perceived control, higher average loneliness, and lower average emotional well-being).

In sum, Study I qualified our hypotheses and the results of previous studies that suggested benefits of civic engagement for the mental health of the engaged individual. Although the analyses included differentiations among mental health indicators, types of engagement, and age, we found hardly any significantly favorable within-person effects and no support for significant age differences. Still, it was a noteworthy result that among older adults, nonpolitical volunteering was associated with higher life satisfaction at the within-person level, whereas political volunteering was associated with lower life satisfaction at the within-person level. However, effect sizes were small.

#### **Study II**

Models and hypotheses for Study II were influenced by the results of Study I (for preregistration of methods and hypotheses at The Open Science Framework, see https://osf.io/kqcbe). This time, we did not model relations among the various mental health indicators (i.e., general life satisfaction, GHQ-12 scores, perceived social support, neighborhood belonging) because mediation modeling is not worthwhile if no clear effects on the outcome can be expected. Instead, we chose to test differences between the effects of nonpolitical and political engagement more directly. We hypothesized more positive effects of nonpolitical engagement compared to (semi-)political engagement, because we found evidence for a different direction of effects for nonpolitical compared to political engagement in Study I—at least among older adults with general life satisfaction as the outcome. This difference in the direction of effects among older adults also led us to stick to the hypotheses that positive effects of nonpolitical engagement are stronger in older than in younger and middle-aged adults, but that the effects of (semi-)political engagement are more negative the older the participants are. Although Study I did not support these hypothesized age differences, they might turn out to be significant with larger effect sizes in general.

Similar to Study I, we used multilevel modeling with observations nested within participants, employed Bayesian estimation (including 95% Bayesian credibility intervals to investigate significance of regression coefficients at p < 0.05), and tested for age differences using overlapping Bayesian confidence intervals with a correction (Knol et al., 2011). The binary predictors of nonpolitical and political engagement were not centered at the within-person level, but we added their person means as between-person predictors to ensure that within-person coefficients were not confounded with between-person associations (Hamaker & Muthén, 2020). To test for differences between the effects of nonpolitical and political engagement, we used a z-test. For all difference tests (i.e., between types of engagement and among age groups), we selected a more stringent level of significance in Study II (p < 0.01)

compared to Study I (p < 0.05) to adjust for multiple significance testing (i.e., by testing for differences between nonpolitical and political engagement in Study II, the number of difference tests increased considerably).

Taken together, we found few and small significant effects at the within-person level again: positive associations were observed among younger adults, who reported higher neighborhood belonging on occasions they reported political engagement, and among older adults, who reported higher general life satisfaction on occasions with nonpolitical or political engagement. Contrary to our expectations, we found no significant differences in the effects between nonpolitical and political engagement and among age groups. A differentiation among various types of political organizations (e.g., engagement in political parties, work-related organizations) did not identify a subtype of political engagement that was negatively related to any of the outcomes.

At the between-person level, higher average rates of nonpolitical and political engagement were associated with higher average neighborhood belonging. Only individuals with higher average rates of nonpolitical engagement reported higher average life satisfaction.

In sum, the results of Study II resembled those of Study I as there were only few positive associations, but small positive effects on general life satisfaction in older adults that did not differ significantly from effects in younger age groups. In contrast to Study I, political engagement was not associated with lower general life satisfaction among older adults at the within-person level, but rather with higher general life satisfaction.

#### **Study III**

The research idea for Study III was influenced by the findings from the first two studies, in which positive within-person associations were most likely observed among older adults. Though, average effects were small, which might be explained by a large variability in effects among older adults. Some might indeed benefit from civic engagement, whereas others might not. Consequently, the main goal of Study III (for preregistration of methods and

hypotheses at The Open Science Framework, see https://osf.io/m8baw) was to investigate whether there are subgroups of older adults who benefit more from civic engagement.

Drawing on the argument that civic engagement compensates for role losses following retirement (Anderson et al., 2014; Baltes, 1997; Bjälkebring et al., 2021; Musick & Wilson, 2003; Piliavin & Siegl, 2015), I focused on the benefits of civic engagement among individuals in the retirement transition. I concentrated on effects of nonpolitical volunteering on life satisfaction because this combination of civic engagement and mental health indicators yielded the most positive associations in Study I and Study II. I expected associations between nonpolitical volunteering and life satisfaction (i.e., general life satisfaction, satisfaction with leisure time) to be stronger after retirement than prior to retirement. Moreover, I hypothesized that the association between nonpolitical volunteering and life satisfaction after retirement becomes more positive the lower the level of life satisfaction at retirement and the stronger the decrease in life satisfaction prior to retirement.

I used multivariate latent growth curve modeling (MLGM; Bollen & Curran, 2006) to test these hypotheses. MLGM also looks into within-person processes (i.e., in terms of individual trajectories in civic engagement and mental health across time) and can investigate interindividual differences therein. I estimated individual trajectories (i.e., slopes in technical terms) of nonpolitical volunteering and life satisfaction prior to retirement (i.e., in the 6 years before retirement), short-term after retirement (i.e., in the first 2 years after retirement), and long-term after retirement (from 2 years after retirement until 6 years after retirement). Then, I regressed the slopes of life satisfaction on concurrent slopes of nonpolitical volunteering (i.e., prior on prior, short-term on short-term, long-term on long-term). I compared standardized regression coefficients across retirement phases (at p < .05) using a z-test. Furthermore, to test moderation of postretirement associations between nonpolitical volunteering and life satisfaction by the level of life satisfaction in the year of retirement and

the trajectory of life satisfaction prior to retirement, I added interaction terms to the previously specified regression models.

The regression coefficients obtained from MLGM indicated whether a more positive change in volunteering frequency (i.e., a stronger increase/weaker decrease in frequency of nonpolitical volunteering compared to other individuals) is related to a more positive change in life satisfaction during the same time period. Indeed, individuals with a more positive change in nonpolitical volunteering also showed a more positive change in life satisfaction short-term and long-term after retirement. Such a pattern of associations was not found for the preretirement phase. Only for general life satisfaction were the associations between concurrent slopes significantly more positive after retirement than prior to retirement. In support of the moderation hypothesis, the added interaction terms turned out to be significantly negative throughout nearly all models. These findings implied that the lower the level of life satisfaction in the year of retirement and the more negative the change in life satisfaction prior to retirement, the stronger the positive effect of nonpolitical volunteering on life satisfaction after retirement becomes.

All in all, the findings suggest that nonpolitical volunteering may be particularly beneficial for retired individuals with a low level of life satisfaction at retirement and who experienced a decrease in life satisfaction prior to retirement. In more general terms, these results imply that at least a specific subgroup of individuals may benefit from civic engagement: individuals who are retired and dissatisfied.

#### Discussion

The main purpose of this thesis was to investigate potential differentiations in the effects of civic engagement on mental health, and particularly differences in the effects with increasing age. Extant studies have generally supported the idea that civic engagement benefits mental health (Anderson et al., 2014; Piliavin & Siegl, 2015). In the DFG-funded project (Pavlova, 2015) the first two studies for this thesis are based on, we strived to go

further, asking the following: What are the mechanisms by which civic engagement contributes to better mental health? Are there age group differences in the effects of different types of civic engagement? In the third study, I elaborated on the effects of civic engagement in older adults based on the idea that civic engagement may compensate for role losses following retirement. Differentiating among effects of civic engagement prior to and after an individual's retirement, I did not only compare effects across age groups, but effects within an individual before and after transitioning into retirement. To answer the research questions, we used large-scale longitudinal data (SOEP, BHPS/UndSoc) and employed methods of longitudinal data analyses that allowed to analyze within-person processes.

To sum up, the research questions of the separate studies shifted from an interest in mediating mechanisms and differentiations in the effects of different types of civic engagement (Study I and Study II) to the more skeptical question of whether any individuals benefit from civic engagement at all (Study III). This shift was influenced by the mainly null findings from the first two studies. Three general statements can be made based on the results of the three studies. First, they do not support benefits of civic engagement across age groups and mental health indicators. Second, the results challenge the notion that nonpolitical and political engagement affect mental health differently, although Study I supports differences in effects on life satisfaction among older adults in Germany. Third, the results of Study III suggest that the benefits of civic engagement may not depend on age per se, but on the life circumstances of older adults (e.g., being in retirement and dissatisfied). I discuss these findings in more detail next.

#### **Focus on Within-Person Processes**

The fact that we found surprisingly few significantly positive associations between civic engagement and mental health in Study I and Study II may be explained by our methodological approach. Multilevel modeling enables estimating within-person processes, which was essential for answering the research questions and for controlling for unobserved

heterogeneity (Brüderl, 2011; Curran & Bauer, 2011; Hamaker & Muthén, 2020). In recent years and concurrently with the papers of this thesis, several studies have also focused on within-person processes of civic engagement and mental health by applying multilevel modeling or FE analyses (Bjälkebring et al., 2021; Dawson-Townsend, 2019; Lawton et al., 2021). The results of these studies and those of prior FE studies (Barbieri, 2017; Binder, 2015; Croezen et al., 2015; De Wit et al., 2015; Meier & Stutzer, 2008) turned out to be similar to the results of Study I and Study II: within-person associations between indicators of civic engagement and mental health were very small and often not significant. Likewise, recent randomized controlled trials (RCTs; the research design most likely to detect potential causal effects) often did not find any significant effects of civic engagement on mental health (Chew et al., 2022; Jiang et al., 2021; Jongenelis et al., 2022; Pettigrew et al., 2020; Whillans et al., 2016).

By applying MLGM, I followed a slightly different methodological approach in Study III. Still, similar to multilevel models, MLGM focuses on within-person processes but analyzes interindividual differences therein (Bollen & Curran, 2006; Curran et al., 2010). The within-person processes in multilevel models and MLGM differ with regard to their reference point: in multilevel models, variables on one occasion are compared to one's (latent) personal mean on the variable across observations (Brüderl, 2011; Hamaker & Muthén, 2020). MLGM is based on within-person changes between subsequent measurement occasions (Bollen & Curran, 2006). Deviations from previous measurements may capture a more systematic process than deviations from individual means, which may facilitate the detection of significant associations between two constructs. In fact, in contrast to Study I and Study II, the results of Study III confirmed the hypothesized positive associations between civic engagement and mental health. However, these differences among study results may also be attributed to the differentiations made in Study III: by investigating the effects of nonpolitical volunteering across the retirement transition and among individuals with different levels and

trajectories of life satisfaction, a group of individuals that indeed benefits from nonpolitical volunteering may have been filtered out.

#### **Differences among Mental Health Indicators**

There was a pattern across all three studies: if there were any significant associations between civic engagement and mental health indicators in the expected direction, they emerged mainly for the cognitive component of SWB (i.e., life satisfaction). This result is surprising because PWB and SoWB may be regarded as more proximal outcomes of civic engagement than SWB (Son & Wilson, 2012). It has to be noted that we did not use aggregated measures of PWB (e.g., Ryff, 1989) or SoWB (e.g., Son & Wilson, 2012). Moreover, the indicators used for PWB (i.e., internal control beliefs in Study I, GHQ-12 scores in Study II include aspects of PWB) and SoWB (low loneliness, social support in dire situations in Study I; perceived social support, neighborhood belonging in Study II) may be less closely related to civic engagement than other indicators of PWB and SoWB.

Although the results are not unequivocal (Jiang et al., 2021), a sense of purpose in life may be the mental health indicator for which the most supporting evidence for significant associations with civic engagement has been found across cross-sectional (Greenfield & Marks, 2004; Thoits, 2012), longitudinal (Kim et al., 2020; Nakamura et al., 2022; Yang & Matz, 2022), and experimental (in an RCT; Jongenelis et al., 2022) studies. Feelings of purpose in life are supposed to develop by undertaking meaningful daily activities and in response to overcoming sufferings (Frankl, 1985), both of which may be experienced during civic engagement: the volunteer role is often perceived as a meaningful social role and its activities sometimes mean being confronted with and finding a way to process the suffering of others (Kahana et al., 2013; Morrow-Howell, 2010; Thoits, 2012). Therein may lie a structural difference between perceptions of purpose in life and internal control beliefs: Feelings of control over one's own life may only manifest if one's actions show consistent and lasting effects on one's own life or on society, whereas a sense of purpose in life may

already arise when even small actions are perceived to have some kind of impact on oneself or others (Kahana et al., 2013; Thoits, 2012). In fact, in some studies, associations of civic engagement with purpose in life were significantly positive, whereas associations with mastery or self-efficacy were not (Jongenelis et al., 2022; Kim et al., 2020).

The only favorable within-person association we observed between civic engagement and SoWB indicators was the association between nonpolitical volunteering and lower loneliness among older adults (Study I), which was only significant when control variables were not included. In particular, the indicators of social support used in Study I and Study II may not be the most plausible outcomes of civic engagement: only family members and close friends may provide social support in dire situations (Study I); perceived social support in the BHPS/UndSoc (Study II) assessed foremost emotional support (i.e., caring, sympathy, and understanding from others), which is also provided almost exclusively by confidents (Berkman et al., 2000; Thoits, 2011). Even cross-sectional associations between volunteering and both loneliness and social support (i.e., feeling respected, receiving instrumental support) appeared weak across European countries in the European Social Survey (ESS; Pavlova & Lühr, 2024). One might conclude that some of the ideas behind the supposed social benefits of civic engagement (i.e., the collaborative work for a common cause creates bonds and friendships among individuals; Berkman et al., 2000; Piliavin & Siegl, 2015; Van Ingen & Kalmijn, 2010) may be too optimistic. Instead, civic engagement may "just" increase social involvement and social interactions (Brown et al., 2012; Musick & Wilson, 2003; Thoits, 2011).

Moreover, whether significant associations can be observed with the available longitudinal data might depend on the variability of the investigated mental health indicator. For instance, compare cognitive well-being (i.e. life satisfaction), for which we found significant associations with civic engagement across all three studies, with affective well-being. Life satisfaction refers to rather rational perspectives on one's life as a whole, which

might change, but slowly and continuously (Diener et al., 1999). In contrast, affective well-being is thought to be highly reactive to momentary circumstances and experiences (Luhmann, Hawkley, et al., 2012; Luhmann, Hofmann, et al., 2012). Hence, affective well-being may vary strongly within hours and days (Mroczek et al., 2003), but adapt quickly in the long term (Henning, 2019). The items in the SOEP and in the BHPS/UndSoc assess emotions across the last month and general civic engagement (i.e., without any information about exactly when activities were undertaken) every year. It is hardly possible to capture short-term changes in affective well-being and short-term associations between civic engagement and affective well-being with these data. As such, it might not be surprising that there were significantly positive associations between civic engagement and cognitive well-being across the studies, but no significantly positive associations between civic engagement and affective well-being (i.e., emotional well-being in Study I, aspects of GHQ-12 scores in Study II).

#### Differences between Nonpolitical and Political Engagement

In general, the results of Study I and Study II suggest that nonpolitical and political engagement yield equally small mental health benefits for engaged individuals. By contrast, detailed analyses of cross-sectional ESS data across 29 European countries generally supported the idea that nonpolitical engagement yields stronger mental health benefits than political engagement (Pavlova & Lühr, 2023). However, as these associations were only cross-sectional, they were likely intermingled with selection effects. Selection effects may be more pronounced for nonpolitical engagement than for political engagement: between-person results of Study I and Study II generally revealed higher levels of mental health among individuals who were nonpolitically engaged; such a distinctive pattern was not observed for average political engagement. Most of the studies that found differences among effects of various types of engagement were also based on cross-sectional data (Albanesi et al., 2007; Vinson & Ericson, 2014; Yeung et al., 2018). However, in FE analyses of SHARE data, a

specific type of nonpolitical engagement (i.e., participation in religious organizations) yielded stronger favorable within-person associations with depressive symptoms than participation in political organizations did (Croezen et al., 2015).

Moreover, it is noteworthy that in Germany (Study I), associations of nonpolitical volunteering with life satisfaction seemed more positive than associations of political volunteering with life satisfaction, at least among older adults. In the UK (Study II), associations with mental health outcomes appeared to be similar for nonpolitical and political engagement. This observed difference in associations between different countries raises questions about whether there are cultural differences in the effects of nonpolitical and political engagement on mental health. Aforementioned cross-national comparisons based on ESS data (Pavlova & Lühr, 2023) revealed a large heterogeneity in associations of nonpolitical and political engagement with mental health indicators across European countries; this variance could hardly be explained by any country-level characteristics, such as national levels of income inequality or democracy. However, descriptive statistics suggested more favorable effects of both nonpolitical engagement and political engagement in some East European countries (apart from Russia and Ukraine). Particularly associations of nonpolitical participation with mental health indicators were less favorable in Western European countries, including Germany and—to a slightly lesser extent—Great Britain. One might reason that we found few significant associations and no differences between effects of nonpolitical and political engagement because data from Germany and the UK were analyzed.

However, why associations between political engagement and life satisfaction among older adults differed so remarkably between Germany and the UK is still an open question. Compared to other European countries, political engagement is more common in Britain and is expressed in high levels of political persuasion and political campaign activities across genders (Beauregard, 2014). Such high levels of political participation in Britain might be based on a higher sense of political responsibility to participate (Jerome, 2012). As a result,

political participation in Great Britain may attend a sense of fulfilling one's duty (Jerome, 2012; Spicker, 2013), which may be especially important to older adults (Midlarsky et al., 2015). Nevertheless, it is also conceivable that the findings based on BHPS/UndSoc data can be attributed to the operationalization of political engagement in Study II (i.e., participation in any political organization, some of them may not be regarded as purely political) and cannot be replicated in other UK samples. In the ESS study (Pavlova & Lühr, 2023), Great Britain did not stand out as a country where associations between political participation and mental health appeared to be particularly positive among older adults—although they were among younger adults.

#### Age Differences and the Relevance of Retirement

The findings across all three papers suggest that the effects of civic engagement on mental health do not depend on age per se as there were no significant age differences in effects. Instead, results of Study III support the idea that individuals who experienced specific life events, which are indeed more likely to occur in older age (e.g., retirement), may be the ones who benefit from civic engagement. Retirement may mark a life event associated with substantial changes in daily routines and social interactions, which require adjustments in order to obtain a high level of mental health (Henning, 2019; Henning et al., 2021; Luhmann, Hofmann, et al., 2012; M. Wang et al., 2011). Overall, increasing civic engagement after retirement may help adjusting in retirement, lending support to the idea that civic engagement compensates for role losses after retirement (Baltes, 1997; Bjälkebring et al., 2021; M. Wang et al., 2011).

It is tempting to argue that civic engagement is particularly suited for role compensation after retirement because it resembles the activities undertaken during the working life and reestablishes much of what is "lost" by retirement (i.e., participation in structured, productive activities with colleagues; Anderson et al., 2014; Musick & Wilson, 2003; Piliavin & Siegl, 2015). Such benefits may not apply to other leisure activities because

they are not as closely related to the activities of the working life (Van Solinge & Henkens, 2008). Indeed, in a Swedish longitudinal study, intellectual, social, and physical leisure activities did not predict changes in depressive symptoms among individuals who retired between waves (Henning et al., 2021). However, other studies also point to stronger positive associations between leisure activities and life satisfaction after retirement than prior to retirement (Kuykendall et al., 2015). In Study I, we found stronger associations between leisure activities and mental health than between civic engagement and mental health among older adults—but without taking retirement into account.

If retirement constitutes a life stage in which the effects of civic engagement are particularly beneficial, one might ask whether there are other age-related life events that lead individuals to become more receptive to the benefits of civic engagement. One may think about changes in family roles, including bereavement of family members and friends. Some empirical—though often cross-sectional—evidence indicates that mental health benefits of civic engagement emerge among individuals who do not have a steady partner (Pavlova & Silbereisen, 2012), who experience spousal bereavement (Li, 2007), or who have to mourn the death of a child (Huo et al., 2023). Civic engagement was found to buffer the effects of the loss of family members on mental health, but did not make a difference when individuals bereaved the loss of friends (Jang et al., 2018). Furthermore, engagement in non-kin childcare was related to improved mental health among older adults without grandchildren (Szabó et al., 2021). In essence, it seems likely that the compensation function of civic engagement applies to life events other than retirement.

Going into more detail, one may ask whether retirees benefit more from civic engagement if they start civic engagement or if they continue civic engagement with increased time commitments in retirement. In another FE study from the United States, associations of volunteering with happiness and depressive symptoms were more favorable among older adults who maintained volunteering than among older adults who joined

voluntary organizations (Russell et al., 2022). These results underline the importance of continuity in old age, including the transition from working life to retirement life (Atchley, 1989; Baltes, 1997; Russell et al., 2022; Shultz & Wang, 2011).

The results of Study III also suggest that the level of mental health at retirement and the trajectory of mental health prior to retirement moderate the effects of civic engagement on mental health among retirees. In short, individuals with lower mental health appear to benefit more from civic engagement. Similar results were observed in samples of adults, without any focus on old age or retirement (Binder, 2015; Binder & Freytag, 2013; Neira et al., 2019). From a life-span and role compensation perspective, civic engagement may offer retirees a new meaningful activity after experiencing decreasing mental health (Baltes, 1997; Cook, 2015; Midlarsky, 1991; M. Wang, 2007). Related arguments were made in studies that found stronger associations between civic engagement and mental health among (older) adults with a lower socioeconomic status (Borgonovi, 2008; Dulin et al., 2012; Morrow-Howell et al., 2009): they are thought to benefit more from civic engagement because they have more to gain in terms of finding meaning in life, receiving social appraisal, and revaluing their own life compared to disadvantaged others.

#### Strengths, Limitations, and Future Directions

In all three studies, large-scale representative panel data, from Germany (SOEP) and from the UK (BHPS/UndSoc), were used. Large-scale panel surveys have plenty advantages: samples are often representative, various constructs are assessed, and they usually span over several years. The panel structure enables separation of within-person change from between-person differences. A major finding of this thesis is that associations between civic engagement and mental health appeared small, even in old age, when considering only within-person processes. With this result, the studies for this thesis belong to a group of new studies that challenged established findings by implementing more robust longitudinal methods (Binder, 2015; Bjälkebring et al., 2021; Croezen et al., 2015; Dawson-Townsend, 2019; De

Wit et al., 2015; Lawton et al., 2021). Another major finding of this thesis is that life-span and interindividual differences in effects of civic engagement could be observed (Study III). Civic engagement was associated with improved mental health when individuals were in retirement and among retirees with lower levels of mental health. With this result, the thesis has contributed to the literature on potential differentiations in the effects of civic engagement among individuals.

Still, whether the results found in the studies for this thesis can be replicated with samples from other countries is debatable. Cross-country differences in the effects of civic engagement on mental health are likely and there may be other countries in Europe (i.e., Eastern European or Mediterranean countries) in which civic engagement yields stronger mental health benefits (Hansen et al., 2018; Haski-Leventhal, 2009; Okulicz-Kozaryn & Morawski, 2020; Pavlova & Lühr, 2023; Vega-Tinoco et al., 2022). Future studies should elaborate on cross-national differences in the effects of nonpolitical and political engagement, preferably with panel datasets that allow analysis of within-person processes. The SHARE dataset may provide a promising panel dataset to investigate effects among older adults living in Europe. SHARE has been used previously in research on civic engagement and mental health, but prior studies used older and only few waves (Hansen et al., 2018), did not take advantage of the panel structure (Haski-Leventhal, 2009; Okulicz-Kozaryn & Morawski, 2020), or did not focus explicitly on cross-national differences (Croezen et al., 2015).

Although using large-scale panel datasets also entails some limitations (e.g., one can only use the measures available, there is a time lag of 1 year or even longer; for a more detailed discussion, see the single papers), it is positive that several studies have finally taken advantage of the panel structure of these datasets, the studies for this thesis included. Large-scale panel studies may be well suited for use in future studies to elaborate on interindividual differences in the effects of civic engagement within a multilevel framework. For instance, differences in effects by personality (cf. Yamashita et al., 2023), gender (cf. Sugihara et al.,

2008), or generative concerns (cf. Chen et al., 2023) may be investigated using these constructs as between-person moderators of within-person effects, particularly among older adults.

Moreover, there are other questions researchers on civic engagement and mental health should afford more consideration. First, as the results of Study III appeared to support the role compensation hypothesis, future studies should search for further evidence of role compensation by civic engagement among older adults—for instance by taking a closer look into changes in family and other social roles. In this context, it may be worthwhile to distinguish whether benefits of civic engagement can be attributed to role compensation (as described in this thesis) or to potential motivational changes in old age (e.g., a stronger motivation to serve society; Omoto et al., 2000). It may be difficult to distinguish these two processes from each other because role loss can be accompanied by motivational changes. For instance, retirement may reinforce the perception that time is limited and thus result in stronger motivations for generative or prosocial behavior, which can be satisfied with civic engagement (Carstensen et al., 1999; Hung et al., 2023; Omoto et al., 2000).

Second, more studies are needed that investigate the time frame between activities of civic engagement and emerging effects for mental health: How many hours, days, weeks have to pass before effects of civic engagement on mental health can be observed? How long do such effects last? How long does civic engagement have to be sustained to yield benefits for mental health? Are there differences among mental health indicators with regard to the time interval? These questions could not have been answered with the SOEP or the BHPS/UndSoc. Answering them requires longitudinal data with much shorter lags than 1 year between waves (for studies with such designs, see Chi et al., 2021; Han et al., 2020; Wray-Lake et al., 2019).

Third, although we found no differences between the effects of nonpolitical and political engagement, differences among different types of engagement may be further investigated. A major limitation of the SOEP and the BHPS/UndSoc data included the lack of

knowledge about the exact types of organizations individuals who were civically engaged participated in. Studies that compare individuals who are active in the same or at least similar organizations with individuals who are active in different types of organizations may elucidate differences in mental health benefits among various types of engagement.

Particularly nonpolitical engagement can take place in rather different places, for instance in religious organizations or in homeless shelters. Studies have indicated mental health benefits of engagement in religious organizations (Musick & Wilson, 2003; Van Willigen, 2000), but are the benefits similar, stronger, or weaker for engagement in other nonpolitical organizations? Besides their potential to investigate causal effects of civic engagement on mental health, RCTs may be useful to assign interested individuals to different voluntary organizations and compare effects among these specific organizations.

#### **Conclusions**

The results of the studies conducted for this thesis suggest that the effects of civic engagement on mental health were often overestimated in prior studies, potentially because of methodological limitations. Although differences in effects among distinctive age groups were not supported, this thesis points to benefits of civic engagement among individuals who have experienced specific life events or who live in specific life circumstances. Specifically, the findings support positive effects of nonpolitical volunteering on life satisfaction in retirement and among retirees with lower levels of life satisfaction, possibly explained by the idea that civic engagement compensates for role losses following retirement.

#### References

- Adler, R. P., & Goggin, J. (2005). What do we mean by "civic engagement"? *Journal of Transformative Education*, 3(3), 236–253. https://doi.org/10.1177/1541344605276792
- Albanesi, C., Cicognani, E., & Zani, B. (2007). Sense of community, civic engagement and social well-being in Italian adolescents. *Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology*, 17(5), 387–406. https://doi.org/10.1002/casp.903
- Allison, P. D. (2009). Fixed effects regression models. Sage.
- Anderson, N. D., Damianakis, T., Kröger, E., Wagner, L. M., Dawson, D. R., Binns, M. A., Bernstein, S., Caspi, E., Cook, S. L., & The BRAVO Team. (2014). The benefits associated with volunteering among seniors: A critical review and recommendations for future research. *Psychological Bulletin*, 140(6), 1505–1533. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0037610
- Andreoni, J. (1990). Impure altruism and donations to public goods: A theory of warm-glow giving. *The Economic Journal*, 100(401), 464–477. https://doi.org/10.2307/2234133
- Atchley, R. C. (1989). Continuity theory of normal aging. *The Gerontologist*, 29(2), 183–190. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/29.2.183
- Baltes, P. B. (1997). On the incomplete architecture of human ontogeny. Selection, optimization, and compensation as foundation of developmental theory. *The American Psychologist*, *52*(4), 366–380. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.52.4.366
- Barbieri, P. N. (2017). The effect of social participation on self-rated physical and psychological well-being. Working paper in Economics 693, Department of Economics, University of Gothenburg, Gothenburg, Sweden.
- Beauregard, K. (2014). Gender, political participation and electoral systems: A cross-national analysis. *European Journal of Political Research*, *53*(3), 617–634. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6765.12047

- Berkman, L. F., Glass, T., Brissette, I., & Seeman, T. E. (2000). From social integration to health: Durkheim in the new millennium. *Social Science & Medicine*, *51*(6), 843–857.
- Berry, D., & Willoughby, M. T. (2017). On the practical interpretability of cross-lagged panel models: Rethinking a developmental workhorse. *Child Development*, 88(4), 1186–1206. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12660
- Binder, M. (2015). Volunteering and life satisfaction: A closer look at the hypothesis that volunteering more strongly benefits the unhappy. *Applied Economics Letters*, 22(11), 874–885. https://doi.org/10.1080/13504851.2014.985364
- Binder, M., & Freytag, A. (2013). Volunteering, subjective well-being and public policy.

  \*\*Journal of Economic Psychology, 34, 97–119.\*\*

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joep.2012.11.008
- Bjälkebring, P., Henning, G., Västfjäll, D., Dickert, S., Brehmer, Y., Buratti, S., Hansson, I., & Johansson, B. (2021). Helping out or helping yourself? Volunteering and life satisfaction across the retirement transition. *Psychology and Aging*, *36*(1), 119–130. https://doi.org/10.1037/pag0000576
- Bollen, K. A., & Curran, P. J. (2006). *Latent curve models: A structural equation perspective*. Wiley.
- Borgonovi, F. (2008). Doing well by doing good. The relationship between formal volunteering and self-reported health and happiness. *Social Science & Medicine*, 66(11), 2321–2334. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.01.011
- Brown, K. M., Hoye, R., & Nicholson, M. (2012). Self-esteem, self-efficacy, and social connectedness as mediators of the relationship between volunteering and well-being. *Journal of Social Service Research*, 38(4), 468–483.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/01488376.2012.687706

- Brüderl, J. (2011). Kausalanalyse mit Paneldaten [Causal analysis with panel data]. In C. Wolf & H. Best (Eds.), *Handbuch der sozialwissenschaftlichen Datenanalyse* (pp. 963–994). VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.
- Carstensen, L. L., Isaacowitz, D. M., & Charles, S. T. (1999). Taking time seriously. A theory of socioemotional selectivity. *American Psychologist*, *54*(3), 165–181. https://doi.org/10.1037//0003-066X.54.3.165
- Chen, Y.-C., Morrow-Howell, N., Hung, N., & Chan, C. L. W. (2023). Civic activities and mental health in later life: The moderating role of generative concerns. *Journal of Gerontological Social Work*, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1080/01634372.2023.2183297
- Chew, T.-W., Ong, C. S.-L., Oh, V. Y. S., & Tong, E. M. W. (2022). Does volunteering improve the psychosocial well-being of volunteers? *Current Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-022-03345-y
- Chi, K., Almeida, D. M., Charles, S. T., & Sin, N. L. (2021). Daily prosocial activities and well-being: Age moderation in two national studies. *Psychology and Aging*, *36*(1), 83–95. https://doi.org/10.1037/pag0000460
- Cook, S. L. (2015). Redirection: An extension of career during retirement. *The Gerontologist*, 55(3), 360–373. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnt105
- Croezen, S., Avendano, M., Burdorf, A., & van Lenthe, F. J. (2015). Social participation and depression in old age: A fixed-effects analysis in 10 European countries. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 182(2), 168–176. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwv015
- Curran, P. J., & Bauer, D. J. (2011). The disaggregation of within-person and between-person effects in longitudinal models of change. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 62(1), 583–619. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.093008.100356
- Curran, P. J., Obeidat, K., & Losardo, D. (2010). Twelve frequently asked questions about growth curve modeling. *Journal of Cognition and Development*, 11(2), 121–136. https://doi.org/10.1080/15248371003699969

- Dawson-Townsend, K. (2019). Social participation patterns and their associations with health and well-being for older adults. *SSM Population Health*, 8, 100424. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2019.100424
- De Wit, A., Bekkers, R., Karamat Ali, D., & Verkaik, D. (2015). *Welfare impacts of participation*. [Deliverable 3.3 of the project: "Impact of the Third Sector as Social Innovation" (ITSSOIN), European Commission 7th Framework Programme, Brussels: European Commission, DG Research].
- Diener, E., Suh, E. M., Lucas, R. E., & Smith, H. L. (1999). Subjective well-being: Three decades of progress. *Psychological Bulletin*, *125*(2), 276–302. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.125.2.276
- Dormann, C., & Griffin, M. A. (2015). Optimal time lags in panel studies. *Psychological Methods*, 20(4), 489–505. https://doi.org/10.1037/met0000041
- Dulin, P. L., Gavala, J., Stephens, C., Kostick, M., & McDonald, J. (2012). Volunteering predicts happiness among older Māori and non-Māori in the New Zealand health, work, and retirement longitudinal study. *Aging & Mental Health*, *16*(5), 617–624. https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2011.641518
- Durkheim, E. (1897). *Suicide. A study in sociology* (J. A. Spaulding & G. Simpson, Trans.; 1951 edition, Transcription). Routledge.
- Enders, C. K., & Tofighi, D. (2007). Centering predictor variables in cross-sectional multilevel models: A new look at an old issue. *Psychological Methods*, *12*(2), 121–138. https://doi.org/10.1037/1082-989X.12.2.121
- Erikson, E. H. (1950). Childhood and society. Norton and Company, Inc.
- Flexhero. (n.d.). Warum Ehrenamt glücklich macht [Why civic engagement makes you happy]. Retrieved May 1, 2023, from https://flexhero.de/warum-ehrenamt-gluecklich-macht-%E2%99%A5/
- Frankl, V. E. (1985). Man's search for meaning (1st ed.). Washington Square Press.

- Fried, L. P., Carlson, M. C., Freedman, M., Frick, K. D., Glass, T. A., Hill, J., McGill, S.,
  Rebok, G. W., Seeman, T., Tielsch, J., Wasik, B. A., & Zeger, S. (2004). A social model for health promotion for an aging population: Initial evidence on the Experience Corps model. *Journal of Urban Health: Bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine*, 81(1), 64–78. https://doi.org/10.1093/jurban/jth094
- Giesselmann, M., & Windzio, M. (2014). Paneldaten in der Soziologie: Fixed Effects

  Paradigma und empirische Praxis in Panelregression und Ereignisanalyse [Panel data in sociology: Fixed effects paradigm and empirical practice in panel regression and event analysis]. *KZfSS Kölner Zeitschrift für Soziologie und Sozialpsychologie*, 66(1), 95–113. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11577-013-0248-z
- Greenfield, E. A., & Marks, N. F. (2004). Formal volunteering as a protective factor for older adults' psychological well-being. *Journals of Gerontology, Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, *59*(5), S258-264. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/59.5.S258
- Hamaker, E. L., Kuiper, R. M., & Grasman, R. P. (2015). A critique of the cross-lagged panel model. *Psychological Methods*, 20(1), 102–116. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0038889
- Hamaker, E. L., & Muthén, B. (2020). The fixed versus random effects debate and how it relates to centering in multilevel modeling. *Psychological Methods*, *25*(3), 365–379. https://doi.org/10.1037/met0000239
- Han, S. H., Kim, K., & Burr, J. A. (2020). Stress-buffering effects of volunteering on daily well-being: Evidence from the National Study of Daily Experiences. *Journals of Gerontology, Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 75(8), 1731–1740. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbz052
- Handy, F., & Mook, L. (2011). Volunteering and volunteers: Benefit-cost analyses. *Research* on Social Work Practice, 21(4), 412–420. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049731510386625

- Hansen, T., Aartsen, M., Slagsvold, B., & Deindl, C. (2018). Dynamics of volunteering and life satisfaction in midlife and old age: Findings from 12 European countries. *Social Sciences*, 7(5), 78. https://doi.org/10.3390/socsci7050078
- Hao, Y. (2008). Productive activities and psychological well-being among older adults.

  \*\*Journals of Gerontology, Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences, 63(2), S64–S72. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/63.2.S64
- Haski-Leventhal, D. (2009). Elderly volunteering and well-being: A cross-European comparison based on SHARE data. *Voluntas*, *20*(4), 388–404. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11266-009-9096-x
- Havighurst, R. J. (1961). Successful ageing. *The Gerontologist*, 1(1), 8–13. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/1.1.8
- Health Education England. (2017). *Volunteering strategy 2017. Consultation document*. https://www.hee.nhs.uk/sites/default/files/documents/13707%20HEE%20Volunteering%20Strategy%20Document June%202017%20web.pdf
- Heckhausen, J., Wrosch, C., & Schulz, R. (2010). A motivational theory of life-span development. *Psychological Review*, *117*(1), 32–60. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0017668
- Henning, G. (2019). Change and continuity in psychological health across the retirement transition: Interindividual differences and post-retirement adjustment. Department of Psychology, University of Gothenburg.
- Henning, G., Johansson, B., Lindwall, M., & Huxhold, O. (2022). Retirement adjustment in Germany from 1996 to 2014. *Work, Aging and Retirement*, 8(3), 304–321. https://doi.org/10.1093/workar/waab027
- Henning, G., Lindwall, M., & Johansson, B. (2016). Continuity in well-being in the transition to retirement. *GeroPsych: The Journal of Gerontopsychology and Geriatric*Psychiatry, 29(4), 225–237. https://doi.org/10.1024/1662-9647/a000155

- Henning, G., Stenling, A., Bielak, A. A. M., Bjälkebring, P., Gow, A. J., Kivi, M., Muniz-Terrera, G., Johansson, B., & Lindwall, M. (2021). Towards an active and happy retirement? Changes in leisure activity and depressive symptoms during the retirement transition. *Aging & Mental Health*, *25*(4), 621–631. https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2019.1709156
- Hung, N., Chen, Y.-C., Choy Yung, R. M. P., Kwan, M. S. M., To, A. K. Y., Fung, E. S. M., & Chan, C. L. W. (2023). Generativity in later-life: The interplay between retirement status and human, social, and financial capital. *Journal of Gerontological Social Work*. https://doi.org/10.1080/01634372.2023.2212730
- Huo, M., Kim, K., & Wang, D. (2023). Long-term psychological consequences of parental bereavement prior to midlife: Volunteering helps. *Aging & Mental Health*, *27*(5), 992–1000. https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2022.2087209
- Jang, H., Tang, F., Gonzales, E., Lee, Y. S., & Morrow-Howell, N. (2018). Formal volunteering as a protector of health in the context of social losses. *Journal of Gerontological Social Work*, 61(8), 834–848. https://doi.org/10.1080/01634372.2018.1476945
- Jerome, L. (2012). Service learning and active citizenship education in England. *Education, Citizenship and Social Justice*, 7(1), 59–70. https://doi.org/10.1177/1746197911432594
- Jiang, D., Warner, L. M., Chong, A. M.-L., Li, T., Wolff, J. K., & Chou, K.-L. (2021).
  Benefits of volunteering on psychological well-being in older adulthood: Evidence from a randomized controlled trial. *Aging & Mental Health*, 25(4), 641–649.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2020.1711862
- Jongenelis, M. I., Jackson, B., Newton, R. U., & Pettigrew, S. (2022). Longitudinal associations between formal volunteering and well-being among retired older people:

- Follow-up results from a randomized controlled trial. *Aging & Mental Health*, 26(2), 368–375. https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2021.1884845
- Kahana, E., Bhatta, T., Lovegreen, L. D., Kahana, B., & Midlarsky, E. (2013). Altruism, helping, and volunteering. *Journal of Aging and Health*, 25(1), 159–187.https://doi.org/10.1177/0898264312469665
- Keyes, C. L. M. (1998). Social well-being. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 61(2), 121–140. https://doi.org/10.2307/2787065
- Keyes, C. L. M. (2005). Mental illness and/or mental health? Investigating axioms of the complete state model of health. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 73(3), 539–548. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.73.3.539
- Keyes, C. L. M. (2006). Subjective well-being in mental health and human development research worldwide: An introduction. *Social Indicators Research*, 77(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-005-5550-3
- Kim, E. S., Whillans, A. V., Lee, M. T., Chen, Y., & VanderWeele, T. J. (2020). Volunteering and subsequent health and well-being in older adults: An outcome-wide longitudinal approach. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *59*(2), 176–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2020.03.004
- Knol, M. J., Pestman, W. R., & Grobbee, D. E. (2011). The (mis)use of overlap of confidence intervals to assess effect modification. *European Journal of Epidemiology*, 26(4), 253–254. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10654-011-9563-8
- Kuiper, R. M., & Ryan, O. (2018). Drawing conclusions from cross-lagged relationships: Reconsidering the role of the time-interval. *Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal*, 25(5), 809–823.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/10705511.2018.1431046

- Kuykendall, L., Tay, L., & Ng, V. (2015). Leisure engagement and subjective well-being: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 141(2), 364–403.
  https://doi.org/10.1037/a0038508
- Lawton, R. N., Gramatki, I., Watt, W., & Fujiwara, D. (2021). Does volunteering make us happier, or are happier people more likely to volunteer? Addressing the problem of reverse causality when estimating the wellbeing impacts of volunteering. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 22(11), 599–624. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-020-00242-8
- Li, Y. (2007). Recovering from spousal bereavement in later life: Does volunteer participation play a role? *Journals of Gerontology, Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 62(4), S257–S266. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/62.4.S257
- Li, Y., & Ferraro, K. F. (2006). Volunteering in middle and later life: Is health a benefit, barrier or both? *Social Forces*, 85(1), 497–519. https://doi.org/10.1353/sof.2006.0132
- Luhmann, M., Hawkley, L. C., Eid, M., & Cacioppo, J. T. (2012). Time frames and the distinction between affective and cognitive well-being. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 46(4), 431–441. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2012.04.004
- Luhmann, M., Hofmann, W., Eid, M., & Lucas, R. E. (2012). Subjective well-being and adaptation to life events: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *102*(3), 592–615. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0025948
- Lühr, M. (2024). When you're down and out: Who benefits from volunteering in old age?

  \*PsyArXiv Preprints. https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/d4f29
- Lühr, M., Pavlova, M. K., & Luhmann, M. (2022a). Nonpolitical versus political participation: Longitudinal associations with mental health and social well-being in different age groups. *Social Indicators Research*, *159*(3), 865–884. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-021-02777-6
- Lühr, M., Pavlova, M. K., & Luhmann, M. (2022b). They are doing well, but is it by doing good? Pathways from nonpolitical and political volunteering to subjective well-being

- in age comparison. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, *23*(5), 1969–1989. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-021-00480-4
- Manwell, L. A., Barbic, S. P., Roberts, K., Durisko, Z., Lee, C., Ware, E., & McKenzie, K. (2015). What is mental health? Evidence towards a new definition from a mixed methods multidisciplinary international survey. *BMJ Open*, *5*(6), e007079. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2014-007079
- McAdams, D. P., & de St. Aubin, E. (1992). A theory of generativity and its assessment through self-report, behavioral acts, and narrative themes in autobiography. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 62(6), 1003–1015. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.62.6.1003
- Meier, S., & Stutzer, A. (2008). Is volunteering rewarding in itself? *Economica*, 75(297), 39–59. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0335.2007.00597.x
- Mellor, D., Hayashi, Y., Firth, L., Stokes, M., Chambers, S., & Cummins, R. (2008).

  Volunteering and well-being: Do self-esteem, optimism, and perceived control mediate the relationship? *Journal of Social Service Research*, *34*(4), 61–70. https://doi.org/10.1080/01488370802162483
- Midlarsky, E. (1991). Helping as coping. In M. S. Clark (Ed.), *Prosocial behavior* (pp. 238–264). Sage.
- Midlarsky, E., & Kahana, E. (2007). Altruism, well-being, and mental health in late life. In S. G. Post (Ed.), *Altruism and health. Perspectives from empirical research* (pp. 56–69). Oxford University Press.
- Midlarsky, E., Kahana, E., & Belser, A. (2015). Prosocial behaviour in late life. In D. A. Schroeder & W. G. Graziano (Eds.), *The Oxford handbook of prosocial behavior* (pp. 415–432). Oxford University Press.

- Morrow-Howell, N. (2010). Volunteering in later life: Research frontiers. *The Journals of Gerontology, Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 65(4), 461–469. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbq024
- Morrow-Howell, N., Hong, S.-I., & Tang, F. (2009). Who benefits from volunteering?

  Variations in perceived benefits. *The Gerontologist*, 49(1), 91–102.

  https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnp007
- Mroczek, D. K., Spiro, A., & Almeida, D. M. (2003). Between- and within-person variation in affect and personality over days and years: How basic and applied approaches can inform one another. *Ageing International*, 28(3), 260–278. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12126-002-1007-z
- Mueller, G. P. (2018). Time intervals versus composite index scores: An alternative approach for the measurement of the socio-economic development of countries. *Social Indicators Research*, *136*(3), 1251–1268. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-016-1530-z
- Müller, D., Ziegelmann, J. P., Simonson, J., Tesch-Römer, C., & Huxhold, O. (2014).

  Volunteering and subjective well-being in later adulthood: Is self-efficacy the key? *International Journal of Developmental Science*, 8(3–4), 125–135.

  https://doi.org/10.3233/DEV-14140
- Mund, M., & Nestler, S. (2019). Beyond the cross-lagged panel model: Next-generation statistical tools for analyzing interdependencies across the life course. *Advances in Life Course Research*, 41, 100249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.alcr.2018.10.002
- Musick, M. A., & Wilson, J. (2003). Volunteering and depression: The role of psychological and social resources in different age groups. *Social Science & Medicine*, *56*(2), 259–269. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-9536(02)00025-4
- Nakamura, J. S., Chen, Y., VanderWeele, T. J., & Kim, E. S. (2022). What makes life purposeful? Identifying the antecedents of a sense of purpose in life using a lagged

- exposure-wide approach. SSM Population Health, 19, 101235. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2022.101235
- Neira, I., Lacalle-Calderon, M., Portela, M., & Perez-Trujillo, M. (2019). Social capital dimensions and subjective well-being: A quantile approach. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 20(8), 2551–2579. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-018-0028-6
- Okulicz-Kozaryn, A., & Morawski, L. (2020). Effect of volunteering and pensions on subjective wellbeing of elderly–Are there cross-country differences? *Applied Research* in *Quality of Life*, *16*(5), 1943–1959. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11482-020-09849-8
- Okun, M. A., & Schultz, A. (2003). Age and motives for volunteering: Testing hypotheses derived from socioemotional selectivity theory. *Psychology and Aging*, *18*(2), 231–239. https://doi.org/10.1037/0882-7974.18.2.231
- Omoto, A. M., Snyder, M., & Martino, S. C. (2000). Volunteerism and the life course:

  Investigating age-related agendas for action. *Basic and Applied Social Psychology*,

  22(3), 181–197. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15324834BASP2203 6
- Pavlova, M. K. (2015). Project proposal of the DFG-funded project "Psychosocial benefits of civic and political participation across the life span and in a European comparison."
- Pavlova, M. K., Gellermann, J. M., Holtmann, E., Jaeck, T., Körner, A., & Silbereisen, R. K. (2022). Applying the volunteer process model to predict future intentions for civic and political participation: Same antecedents, different experiences? *The Journal of Social Psychology*, *162*(6), 733–751. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224545.2021.1953957
- Pavlova, M. K., & Lühr, M. (2023). Volunteering and political participation are differentially associated with eudaimonic and social well-being across age groups and European countries. *PLOS ONE*, *18*(2), e0281354. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0281354
- Pavlova, M. K., & Silbereisen, R. K. (2012). Participation in voluntary organizations and volunteer work as a compensation for the absence of work or partnership? Evidence from two German samples of younger and older adults. *The Journals of Gerontology*,

- Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences, 67(4), 514–524. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbs051
- Pavlova, M. K., & Silbereisen, R. K. (2015). Supportive social contexts and intentions for civic and political participation: An application of the theory of planned behaviour.
  Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology, 25(5), 432–446.
  https://doi.org/10.1002/casp.2223
- Pettigrew, S., Jongenelis, M. I., Jackson, B., Warburton, J., & Newton, R. U. (2020). A randomized controlled trial and pragmatic analysis of the effects of volunteering on the health and well-being of older people. *Aging Clinical and Experimental Research*, 32(4), 711–721. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40520-019-01241-3
- Piliavin, J. A., & Siegl, E. (2007). Health benefits of volunteering in the Wisconsin Longitudinal Study. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 48(4), 450–464. https://doi.org/10.1177/002214650704800408
- Piliavin, J. A., & Siegl, E. (2015). Health and well-being consequences of formal volunteering. In D. A. Schroeder & W. G. Graziano (Eds.), *The Oxford handbook of prosocial behavior* (pp. 494–523). Oxford University Press.
- Pilkington, P. D., Windsor, T. D., & Crisp, D. A. (2012). Volunteering and subjective well-being in midlife and older adults: The role of supportive social networks. *The Journals of Gerontology, Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 67(2), 249–260. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbr154
- Putnam, R. D. (1995). Bowling alone. America's declining social capital. *Journal of Democracy*, 6(1), 65–78. https://doi.org/10.1353/jod.1995.0002
- Rohrer, J. M., & Murayama, K. (2023). These are not the effects you are looking for:

  Causality and the within-/between-person distinction in longitudinal data analysis.

  Advances in Methods and Practices in Psychological Science., 6(1).

  https://doi.org/10.1177/25152459221140842

- Rook, K. S., & Sorkin, D. H. (2003). Fostering social ties through a volunteer role:
  Implications for older-adults' psychological health. *International Journal of Aging & Human Development*, 57(4), 313–337. https://doi.org/10.2190/NBBN-EU3H-4Q1N-UXHR
- Russell, A. R., Boen, C. E., & Handy, F. (2022). Volunteer retirement and well-being in older adults: A longitudinal study. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 089976402211258. https://doi.org/10.1177/08997640221125805
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. *American Psychologist*, *55*(1), 68–78. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.55.1.68
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2001). On happiness and human potentials: A review of research on hedonic and eudaimonic well-being. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *52*(1), 141–166. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.141
- Ryff, C. D. (1989). Happiness is everything, or is it? Explorations on the meaning of psychological well-being. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *57*(5), 1069–1081. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.57.6.1069
- Ryff, C. D. (2014). Psychological well-being revisited: Advances in the science and practice of eudaimonia. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, *83*(1), 10–28. https://doi.org/10.1159/000353263
- Shultz, K. S., & Wang, M. (2011). Psychological perspectives on the changing nature of retirement. *American Psychologist*, 66(3), 170–179. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022411
- Sieber, S. D. (1974). Toward a theory of role accumulation. *American Sociological Review*, 39(4), 567. https://doi.org/10.2307/2094422
- Simonson, J., Kelle, N., Kausmann, C., Karnick, N., Arriagada, C., Hagen, C., Hameister, N., Huxhold, O., & Tesch-Römer, C. (2021). Freiwilliges Engagement in Deutschland.

  Zusammenfassung zentraler Ergebnisse des Fünften Deutschen Freiwilligensurveys

- [Voluntary participation in Germany. Summary of key results of the Fourth German Survey on Volunteering]. BMFSJ.
- Son, J., & Wilson, J. (2012). Volunteer work and hedonic, eudemonic, and social well-being. *Sociological Forum*, 27(3), 658–681. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1573-7861.2012.01340.x
- Spicker, P. (2013). Liberal welfare states. In B. Greve (Ed.), *The Routledge handbook of the welfare State* (pp. 193–201). Routledge.
- Sugihara, Y., Sugisawa, H., Shibata, H., & Harada, K. (2008). Productive roles, gender, and depressive symptoms: Evidence from a national longitudinal study of late-middle-aged Japanese. *The Journals of Gerontology, Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 63(4), P227–P234. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/63.4.p227
- Szabó, Á., Neely, E., & Stephens, C. (2021). The psychosocial benefits of providing non-kin childcare in older adults: A longitudinal study with older New Zealanders. *Journal of Health Psychology*, *26*(11), 1926–1938. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105319893011
- Tabassum, F., Mohan, J., & Smith, P. (2016). Association of volunteering with mental wellbeing: A lifecourse analysis of a national population-based longitudinal study in the UK. *BMJ Open*, 6(8), e011327. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011327
- Techniker Krankenkasse. (2023, February 16). Soziales Engagement: Warum ehrenamtliche

  Arbeit so wichtig ist [Social commitment: Why voluntary work is so important].

  https://www.tk.de/techniker/magazin/life-balance/wohlbefinden/soziales-engagement2124340?tkcm=ab
- Theiss-Morse, E., & Hibbing, J. R. (2005). Citizenship and civic engagement. *Annual Review of Political Science*, 8(1), 227–249.
  - https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.polisci.8.082103.104829

- Thoits, P. A. (1983). Multiple identities and psychological well-being: A reformulation and test of the social isolation hypothesis. *American Sociological Review*, 48(2), 174. https://doi.org/10.2307/2095103
- Thoits, P. A. (2010). Stress and health: Major findings and policy implications. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, *51*(Suppl), S41–S53. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022146510383499
- Thoits, P. A. (2011). Mechanisms linking social ties and support to physical and mental health. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, *52*(2), 145–161. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022146510395592
- Thoits, P. A. (2012). Role-identity salience, purpose and meaning in life, and well-being among volunteers. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 75(4), 360–384. https://doi.org/10.1177/0190272512459662
- Thoits, P. A., & Hewitt, L. N. (2001). Volunteer work and well-being. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 42(2), 115–131. https://doi.org/10.2307/3090173
- Van Ingen, E., & Kalmijn, M. (2010). Does voluntary association participation boost social resources? *Social Science Quarterly*, *91*(2), 493–510. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6237.2010.00704.x
- Van Solinge, H., & Henkens, K. (2008). Adjustment to and satisfaction with retirement: Two of a kind? *Psychology and Aging*, *23*(2), 422–434. https://doi.org/10.1037/0882-7974.23.2.422
- Van Willigen, M. (2000). Differential benefits of volunteering across the life course. *The Journals of Gerontology, Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, *55*(5), S308–S318. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/55.5.S308
- Vega-Tinoco, A., Gil-Lacruz, A. I., & Gil-Lacruz, M. (2022). Civic participation as a promoter of well-being: Comparative analysis among European countries. *Social Indicators Research*, *164*(1), 217–237. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-022-02947-0

- Verba, S., Schlozman, K. L., & Brady, H. E. (1995). *Voice and equality. Civic voluntarism in American politics*. Havard University Press.
- Vinson, T., & Ericson, M. (2014). The social dimensions of happiness and life satisfaction of Australians: Evidence from the World Values Survey. *International Journal of Social Welfare*, 23(3), 240–253. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijsw.12062
- Voelkle, M. C., Gische, C., Driver, C. C., & Lindenberger, U. (2018). The role of time in the quest for understanding psychological mechanisms. *Multivariate Behavioral*\*Research\*, 53(6), 782–805. https://doi.org/10.1080/00273171.2018.1496813
- Wang, L. P., & Maxwell, S. E. (2015). On disaggregating between-person and within-person effects with longitudinal data using multilevel models. *Psychological Methods*, 20(1), 63–83. https://doi.org/10.1037/met0000030
- Wang, M. (2007). Profiling retirees in the retirement transition and adjustment process:

  Examining the longitudinal change patterns of retirees' psychological well-being.

  Journal of Applied Psychology, 92(2), 455–474. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.92.2.455
- Wang, M., Henkens, K., & Van Solinge, H. (2011). Retirement adjustment: A review of theoretical and empirical advancements. *American Psychologist*, 66(3), 204–213. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022414
- Wheeler, J. A., Gorey, K. M., & Greenblatt, B. (1998). The beneficial effects of volunteering for older volunteers and the people they serve: A meta-analysis. *The International Journal of Aging and Human Development*, 47(1), 69–79. https://doi.org/10.2190/VUMP-XCMF-FQYU-V0JH
- Whillans, A. V., Seider, S. C., Chen, L., Dwyer, R. J., Novick, S., Gramigna, K. J., Mitchell,
  B. A., Savalei, V., Dickerson, S. S., & Dunn, E. W. (2016). Does volunteering
  improve well-being? *Comprehensive Results in Social Psychology*, 1(1–3), 35–50.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/23743603.2016.1273647

- Wilson, J. (2000). Volunteering. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 26, 215–240. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.soc.26.1.215
- Wilson, J. (2012). Volunteerism research: A review essay. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 41(2), 176–212. https://doi.org/10.1177/0899764011434558
- Wollebaek, D., & Selle, P. (2002). Does participation in voluntary associations contribute to social capital? The impact of intensity, scope, and type. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, *31*(1), 32–61. https://doi.org/10.1177/0899764002311002
- World Health Organization. (2004). *Promoting mental health: Concepts, emerging evidence, practice (Summary report)*. World Health Organization.

  https://public.ebookcentral.proquest.com/choice/publicfullrecord.aspx?p=4978588
- Wray-Lake, L., DeHaan, C. R., Shubert, J., & Ryan, R. M. (2019). Examining links from civic engagement to daily well-being from a self-determination theory perspective. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 14(2), 166–177.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2017.1388432
- Wu, A. M. S., Tang, C. S. K., & Yan, E. C. W. (2005). Post-retirement voluntary work and psychological functioning among older Chinese in Hong Kong. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Gerontology*, 20(1), 27–45. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10823-005-3796-5
- Yamashita, M., Abe, T., Seino, S., Nofuji, Y., Sugawara, Y., Shinkai, S., Kitamura, A., & Fujiwara, Y. (2023). Role of personality traits in determining the association between social participation and mental health: A cross-sectional study in Japan. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 28(1), 48–60. https://doi.org/10.1177/13591053221105350
- Yang, J., & Matz, C. (2022). A latent deprivation perspective: Mechanisms linking volunteering to mental health in later life. *The International Journal of Aging and Human Development*, 95(1), 110–130. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091415020959767

Yeung, J. W. K., Zhang, Z., & Kim, T. Y. (2018). Volunteering and health benefits in general adults: Cumulative effects and forms. *BMC Public Health*, *18*(1), 8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-017-4561-8

## Wissenschaftlicher Werdegang

## Persönliche Angaben

Name Matthias Lühr Geburtsdatum 10. April 1987 Geburtsort Detmold

## Ausbildung und Studium

07/2023 Abgabe der Dissertationsschrift

Für Promotion im Fach Gerontologie

Universität Vechta

Titel der Dissertation "Effects of civic engagement on mental health in age

comparison"

10/2013 - 06/2016 Masterstudium der Sozialwissenschaft

Ruhr-Universität Bochum

Studienprogramm: Methoden der Sozialforschung

Abschluss: Master of Arts

Titel der Masterarbeit "Die religiöse Identität von Eziden in Deutschland"

10/2006 - 09/2012 Bachelorstudium der Kulturwissenschaften

FernUniversität in Hagen

Schwerpunkte: Soziologie, Kultursoziologie

Abschluss: Bachelor of Arts

Titel der Bachelorarbeit "Identitätsstiftung in der Postmoderne: Fansein zwischen

Identitätssuche und Erlebniskultur"

08/1997 - 06/2006 Stadtgymnasium Detmold

Leistungskurse: Pädagogik, Mathematik

Abschluss: Abitur

## Wissenschaftliche Tätigkeiten

Seit 01/2023 Wissenschaftlicher Mitarbeiter

Universität Ulm, Sektion Public Mental Health, Arbeitsgruppe

Suizidprävention

10/2017- 12/2022 Wissenschaftlicher Mitarbeiter

Universität Vechta, Institut für Gerontologie, Fachbereich

Psychologische Gerontologie

01/2017 - 09/2017 Wissenschaftlicher Mitarbeiter

Friedrich-Schiller-Universität Jena, Institut für Psychologie,

Entwicklungspsychologie

01/2016 - 12/2016 Forschungspraktikant

Universität Bielefeld

Center for the Interdisciplinary Research on Religion and SocietyForschungsstelle Biographische Religionsforschung

12/2013 - 12/2015 Wissenschaftliche Hilfskraft

LVR-Klinikum Essen

Forschungsabteilung der Klinik für Psychosomatische Medizin

und Psychotherapie

#### Publikationen

**Lühr, M.** (2024). When you're down and out: Who benefits from volunteering in old age? *PsyArXiv Preprints*. https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/d4f29

Pavlova, M. K. & Lühr, M. (2023). Volunteering and political participation are differentially associated with eudaimonic and social well-being across age groups and European countries. *PLoS ONE*, *18*(2), e0281354. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0281354

**Lühr, M.**, Pavlova, M. K. & Luhmann, M. (2022). Nonpolitical versus political participation: Longitudinal associations with mental health and social well-being in different age groups. *Social Indicators Research*, *159*(3), 865–884. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-021-02777-6">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-021-02777-6</a>

**Lühr, M.**, Pavlova, M. K. & Luhmann, M. (2022). They are doing well, but is it by doing Good? Pathways from nonpolitical and political volunteering to subjective well-being in age comparison. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, *23*(5), 1969–1989. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-021-00480-4">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-021-00480-4</a>

Pavlova, M. K., **Lühr, M.**, & Luhmann, M. (2019). Does participation in voluntary organizations protect against risky alcohol and tobacco use? Findings from the UK panel data. *Preventive Medicine Reports*, *14*, 100885. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmedr.2019.100885

Pavlova, M. K., **Lühr, M.**, & Luhmann, M. (2018). Effects of voluntary memberships and volunteering on alcohol and tobacco use across the life course: Findings from the German Socio-Economic Panel. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *194*, 271–278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.10.013

**Lühr, M.**, Streib, H., & Klein, C. (2018). Inter-religious prejudice in context: Prejudice against black persons, homosexuals and women, and the role of the violence legitimizing norms of masculinity. In H. Streib & C. Klein (Hg.), *Xenosophia and Religion. Biographical and Statistical Paths for a Culture of Welcome*. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 203–229. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-74564-0 7

Klein, C., **Lühr, M.**, & Streib, H. (2018). Extant empirical research on religion and prejudice. In H. Streib & C. Klein (Hg.), *Xenosophia and Religion. Biographical and Statistical Paths for a Culture of Welcome*. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 23–84. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-74564-0 2

# Literaturverzeichnis der Publikationen, die Bestandteil der kumulativen Dissertation sind

- Lühr, M. (2024). When you're down and out: Who benefits from volunteering in old age? *PsyArXiv Preprints*. https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/d4f29
- Lühr, M., Pavlova, M. K., & Luhmann, M. (2022a). Nonpolitical versus political participation: Longitudinal associations with mental health and social well-being in different age groups. *Social Indicators Research*, 159(3), 865–884. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-021-02777-6
- Lühr, M., Pavlova, M. K., & Luhmann, M. (2022b). They are doing well, but is it by doing good? Pathways from nonpolitical and political volunteering to subjective well-being in age comparison. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, *23*(5), 1969–1989. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-021-00480-4